



Bioceramics in Endodontics



Edited by Viresh Chopra







WILEY Blackwell

Contents

List of Contributors xv

	Foreword by Professor Nutayla Said Al Harthy xix Foreword by Stephen Cohen xxi Preface xxiii Acknowledgments xxv About the Companion Website xxvii
1	Bioceramics in Dentistry 1
	Vineeta Nikhil, Sachin Gupta, Shikha Jaiswal, and Padmanabh Jho
1.1	Introduction 2
1.2	History and Evolution of Bioceramics 3
1.3	Classification of Bioceramics 4
1.3.1	Based on Generations 4
1.3.2	Based on Tissue Interaction 5
1.3.3	Based on Structure 5
1.3.4	Based on Composition 6
1.3.5	Based on Resorbability 6
1.3.6	Based on Their Location-Specific Use in Endodontology 7
1.4	Forms of Bioceramics 7
1.4.1	Alumina 7
1.4.2	Zirconia 7
1.4.3	Hydroxyapatite (HA) 8
1.4.4	Calcium Phosphate 8
1.4.5	Mineral Trioxide Aggregate 8
1.4.6	Biodentine 9
1.5	Physicochemical Properties of Bioceramics 9
1.5.1	Portland Cement 9
1.5.2	ProRoot MTA 10
1.5.3	MTA Angelus 12
1.5.4	Biodentine 12
1.5.5	BioAggregate 14

1.5.6	Ceramicrete 14
1.5.7	Calcium-Enriched Mixture Cement 15
1.5.7.1	Physical Properties 15
1.5.7.2	Antibacterial Activity 16
1.5.7.3	Sealing Ability 16
1.5.8	EndoSequence Root Repair Material 16
1.5.8.1	Setting and Working Time 16
1.5.8.2	pH Value 16
1.5.8.3	Microhardness 17
1.5.8.4	Bioactivity 17
1.5.8.5	Sealing Ability 17
1.5.8.6	Antibacterial Activity 17
1.5.9	iROOT 17
1.5.9.1	Physical Properties 18
1.5.10	Endo-CPM 18
1.5.10.1	Physical Properties 18
1.6	Physicochemical Properties of Some Bioinert Bioceramics 20
1.6.1	Alumina (High Purity Dense Alumina/Al ₂ O ₃) 20
1.6.2	Zirconia 20
1.7	Biological Properties of Bioceramics 21
1.7.1	Cytological Investigation of Biocompatibility 21
1.7.2	Subcutaneous and Intraosseous Implantation 23
1.7.3	Periradicular Tissue Reactions 23
1.7.4	Pulpal Reactions 24
1.7.5	Antibacterial Properties 26
1.8	Application of Bioceramics in Dentistry 26
1.9	Advantages of Bioceramics 28
1.9.1	Regenerative Endodontic Therapy 29
1.9.2	Advantages of BCs When Used as a Sealer/Obturating Material 29
1.10	Limitations 30
1.11	Future Trends 30
1.12	Conclusion 32
	References 32
2	Calcium Silicate-Based Dental Bioceramics: History, Status,
	and Future 43
	Abubaker Qutieshat, Shahab Javanmardi, and Gurdeep Singh
2.1	Introduction 44
2.2	Bioceramics: The What and the Why 45
2.3	Endodontic Repair Materials with Ideal Properties 45
2.4	Calcium Silicate-based Materials: A Look Back in History 45
2.5	Chemical Properties 48

2.5.1	Heavy Metal Contamination 52
2.5.2	Setting Reaction 53
2.6	Synthetic Calcium Silicates 55
2.6.1	Biodentine 55
2.6.2	BioAggregate 55
2.6.3	EndoSequence 56
2.6.4	iRoot BP Plus 56
2.6.5	NeoMTA Plus 57
2.6.6	BioRoot RCS 57
2.7	Technical Report 57
2.7.1	Methods 57
2.7.1.1	Flame Emission Spectroscopy 58
2.7.1.2	X-ray Diffraction 59
2.7.2	Results 60
2.8	Recommendations for Implementation 61
2.9	Conclusion 64
	References 64
3	Bioceramics in Clinical Endodontics 71
	Ayfer Atav, Burçin Arıcan, and Keziban Olcay
3.1	Introduction 72
3.2	Classification of Hydraulic Cements in Endodontics 73
3.2.1	Type 1 Hydraulic Cements 73
3.2.1.1	ProRoot MTA 73
3.2.2	Type 2 Hydraulic Cements 75
3.2.2.1	MTA Angelus 76
3.2.2.2	MTA Bio 77
3.2.2.3	$MM-MTA^{TM}$ 77
3.2.3	Type 3 Hydraulic Cements 78
3.2.3.1	EndoSeal MTA 78
3.2.3.2	MTA Fillapex 78
3.2.3.3	TheraCal LC 79
3.2.3.4	TheraCal PT 80
3.2.4	Type 4 Hydraulic Cements 80
3.2.4.1	BioAggregate 81
3.2.4.2	Biodentine™ 82
3.2.4.3	BioRoot RCS 83
3.2.4.4	MTA BIOREP 84
3.2.4.5	Bio-C Pulpo 84
3.2.4.6	MTA Repair HP 85
3.2.5	Type 5 Hydraulic Cements 85
3.2.5.1	iRoot SP, EndoSequence® BC, TotalFill® 85

3.2.5.2	EndoSequence® BC Sealer HiFlow and TotalFill® BC Sealer HiFlow™ 88
3.2.5.3	TotalFill® BC RRM Root Repair Material (RRM)Paste, iRoot BP,
	EndoSequence® BC Root Repair Material (ERRM) or Bioceramic Root
	Repair Material (BC RRM) (Brasseler USA, Savannah, GA, USA) 88
3.2.5.4	TotalFill® BC RRM™ Putty, iRoot BP Plus, EndoSequence®
	BC RRM Putty 88
3.2.5.5	TotalFill® BC RRM™ Fast Set Putty, iRoot FS, EndoSequence®
	BC RRM Fast Set Puty 88
3.2.5.6	Well-Root™ ST 89
3.2.5.7	CeraSeal 90
3.2.5.8	MTA Bioseal 90
3.2.5.9	Bio-C Repair 91
3.2.5.10	Bio-C Sealer 91
3.2.5.11	Bio-C Temp 91
3.2.5.12	Bio-C Pulpecto 92
3.2.5.13	Bio-C Sealer ION+ 92
3.2.5.14	AH Plus Bioceramic Sealer 93
3.3	Conclusion 93
	References 93
4	Bioceramics: Root-End Filling Material 105
4	Bioceramics: Root-End Filling Material 105 Sanjay Miglani, Swadheena Patro, Ankita Mohanty, and Antarikshya Das
4 4.1	
	Sanjay Miglani, Swadheena Patro, Ankita Mohanty, and Antarikshya Das
4.1	Sanjay Miglani, Swadheena Patro, Ankita Mohanty, and Antarikshya Das Introduction 106
4.1 4.2	Sanjay Miglani, Swadheena Patro, Ankita Mohanty, and Antarikshya Das Introduction 106 Microsurgical Endodontics 106
4.1 4.2 4.3	Sanjay Miglani, Swadheena Patro, Ankita Mohanty, and Antarikshya Das Introduction 106 Microsurgical Endodontics 106 History 107
4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4	Sanjay Miglani, Swadheena Patro, Ankita Mohanty, and Antarikshya Das Introduction 106 Microsurgical Endodontics 106 History 107 Properties of Root-End Filling Material 108
4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5	Sanjay Miglani, Swadheena Patro, Ankita Mohanty, and Antarikshya Das Introduction 106 Microsurgical Endodontics 106 History 107 Properties of Root-End Filling Material 108 Bioceramic Materials 108
4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.5.1	Sanjay Miglani, Swadheena Patro, Ankita Mohanty, and Antarikshya Das Introduction 106 Microsurgical Endodontics 106 History 107 Properties of Root-End Filling Material 108 Bioceramic Materials 108 Mineral Trioxide Aggregate 108
4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.5.1 4.5.2	Sanjay Miglani, Swadheena Patro, Ankita Mohanty, and Antarikshya Das Introduction 106 Microsurgical Endodontics 106 History 107 Properties of Root-End Filling Material 108 Bioceramic Materials 108 Mineral Trioxide Aggregate 108 Bioaggregate 111
4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.5.1 4.5.2 4.5.3	Sanjay Miglani, Swadheena Patro, Ankita Mohanty, and Antarikshya Das Introduction 106 Microsurgical Endodontics 106 History 107 Properties of Root-End Filling Material 108 Bioceramic Materials 108 Mineral Trioxide Aggregate 108 Bioaggregate 111 Biodentine 112
4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.5.1 4.5.2 4.5.3 4.5.4	Sanjay Miglani, Swadheena Patro, Ankita Mohanty, and Antarikshya Das Introduction 106 Microsurgical Endodontics 106 History 107 Properties of Root-End Filling Material 108 Bioceramic Materials 108 Mineral Trioxide Aggregate 108 Bioaggregate 111 Biodentine 112 iRoot BP Plus Bioceramic Putty 112
4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.5.1 4.5.2 4.5.3 4.5.4 4.5.5	Sanjay Miglani, Swadheena Patro, Ankita Mohanty, and Antarikshya Das Introduction 106 Microsurgical Endodontics 106 History 107 Properties of Root-End Filling Material 108 Bioceramic Materials 108 Mineral Trioxide Aggregate 108 Bioaggregate 111 Biodentine 112 iRoot BP Plus Bioceramic Putty 112 Capasio 112
4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.5.1 4.5.2 4.5.3 4.5.4 4.5.5 4.5.6	Sanjay Miglani, Swadheena Patro, Ankita Mohanty, and Antarikshya Das Introduction 106 Microsurgical Endodontics 106 History 107 Properties of Root-End Filling Material 108 Bioceramic Materials 108 Mineral Trioxide Aggregate 108 Bioaggregate 111 Biodentine 112 iRoot BP Plus Bioceramic Putty 112 Capasio 112 Calcium-Enriched Material 113
4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.5.1 4.5.2 4.5.3 4.5.4 4.5.5 4.5.6 4.5.7	Sanjay Miglani, Swadheena Patro, Ankita Mohanty, and Antarikshya Das Introduction 106 Microsurgical Endodontics 106 History 107 Properties of Root-End Filling Material 108 Bioceramic Materials 108 Mineral Trioxide Aggregate 108 Bioaggregate 111 Biodentine 112 iRoot BP Plus Bioceramic Putty 112 Capasio 112 Calcium-Enriched Material 113 EndoSequence 114 EndoBinder 115 Generex A 116
4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.5.1 4.5.2 4.5.3 4.5.4 4.5.5 4.5.6 4.5.7 4.5.8	Sanjay Miglani, Swadheena Patro, Ankita Mohanty, and Antarikshya Das Introduction 106 Microsurgical Endodontics 106 History 107 Properties of Root-End Filling Material 108 Bioceramic Materials 108 Mineral Trioxide Aggregate 108 Bioaggregate 111 Biodentine 112 iRoot BP Plus Bioceramic Putty 112 Capasio 112 Calcium-Enriched Material 113 EndoSequence 114 EndoBinder 115 Generex A 116 Quick-Set 117
4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.5.1 4.5.2 4.5.3 4.5.4 4.5.5 4.5.6 4.5.7 4.5.8 4.5.9	Sanjay Miglani, Swadheena Patro, Ankita Mohanty, and Antarikshya Das Introduction 106 Microsurgical Endodontics 106 History 107 Properties of Root-End Filling Material 108 Bioceramic Materials 108 Mineral Trioxide Aggregate 108 Bioaggregate 111 Biodentine 112 iRoot BP Plus Bioceramic Putty 112 Capasio 112 Calcium-Enriched Material 113 EndoSequence 114 EndoBinder 115 Generex A 116
4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.5.1 4.5.2 4.5.3 4.5.4 4.5.5 4.5.6 4.5.7 4.5.8 4.5.9 4.5.10	Sanjay Miglani, Swadheena Patro, Ankita Mohanty, and Antarikshya Das Introduction 106 Microsurgical Endodontics 106 History 107 Properties of Root-End Filling Material 108 Bioceramic Materials 108 Mineral Trioxide Aggregate 108 Bioaggregate 111 Biodentine 112 iRoot BP Plus Bioceramic Putty 112 Capasio 112 Calcium-Enriched Material 113 EndoSequence 114 EndoBinder 115 Generex A 116 Quick-Set 117
4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.5.1 4.5.2 4.5.3 4.5.4 4.5.5 4.5.6 4.5.7 4.5.8 4.5.9 4.5.10 4.5.11	Sanjay Miglani, Swadheena Patro, Ankita Mohanty, and Antarikshya Das Introduction 106 Microsurgical Endodontics 106 History 107 Properties of Root-End Filling Material 108 Bioceramic Materials 108 Mineral Trioxide Aggregate 108 Bioaggregate 111 Biodentine 112 iRoot BP Plus Bioceramic Putty 112 Capasio 112 Calcium-Enriched Material 113 EndoSequence 114 EndoBinder 115 Generex A 116 Quick-Set 117 Ceramicrete-D 118

5		Bioceramics as an Apical Plug 129 Riccardo Tonini and Marilu' Garo
5.1	ı	Apical Plug 129
5.2		MTA Apical Plug Outcome 131
5.3		
		2 9
5.4		Apical Plug Technique 133
		In the First Session 133
		In the Second Session 133
		Extra-Apical Resorbable Barriers 135
		Apical Sounding Technique Procedure 137
5.5	5	Complex Clinical Cases 141
		References 147
6		Regeneration in Endodontics with Clinical Cases 153
		Abhishek Parolia, Maya Feghali, and Catherine Ricci
6.1	l	Introduction 153
6.2	2	Factors Affecting the Clinical Outcome of REP 155
6.2	2.1	Etiology 155
6.2		Type of the Tooth 155
6.2		Induction of Bleeding and Blood Clot 156
6.2		Disinfection of the Root Canal System 156
		Coronal Barrier 157
6.3		Materials used for REP 157
6.4		Key Points to Remember While Performing REPs 159
٠.	•	References 164
		10.00
7		Management of Deep Caries with Bioceramics 169
		Antonis Chaniotis and Viresh Chopra
7.1	l	Introduction 169
7.2	2	Patient Information 170
7.2	2.1	Tooth 170
7.3	3	Treatment Plan 170
7.4	1	Learning Objectives 172
		References 172
8		Regenerative Management of an Infected Pulp of a Permanent
		Tooth Using Bioceramics 173
		Antonis Chaniotis and Viresh Chopra
8.1		Introduction 173
8.2		Patient Information 174
		Tooth 174
8.3	•	Treatment Plan 174

x	Contents	
---	----------	--

8.3.1 8.3.2 8.3.3 8.4	First Visit 175 Second Visit 176 Recall 177 Learning Objectives 177 References 177
9	Endodontic Management of a Necrosed Pulp with Wide Open Apex 179 Antonis Chaniotis and Viresh Chopra
9.1	Introduction 179
9.2	Patient Information 180
9.2.1	Tooth 180
9.3	Treatment Plan 180
9.4	Technical Aspects 181
9.4.1	First Visit 181
9.4.2	Second Visit 182
9.5	Learning Objectives 183
	References 184
10	Clinical Application of Bioceramics as Direct Pulp
	Capping Material 185
	Antonis Chaniotis and Viresh Chopra
10.1	Introduction 185
10.2	Patient Information 186
10.2.1	Tooth 186
10.3	Treatment Plan 187
10.4	Technical Aspects 188
10.5	Learning Objectives 188
	References 188
11	Sealer-Based Obturations Using Bioceramics in Nonsurgical Root Canal Treatments 189 Garima Poddar, Ajay Bajaj, and Viresh Chopra
11.1	Introduction 190
11.2	Case 1 192
11.2.1	Patient Information 192
11.2.2	Details of the Tooth 192
11.2.3	Radiographic Evaluation of Tooth Number 35 Revealed the
	Following 193
11.2.4	Diagnosis 193
11.3	Treatment Plan 193
11.4	Treatment Done 194

11.4.1	Instrumentation Protocol 194	
11.4.2	Irrigation Protocol 194	
11.4.3	Obturation Protocol 195	
11.4.4	Post Endodontic Restoration 196	
11.4.5	Rationale on the Treatment Protocol and the Material Used	196
11.5	Learning Objectives for the Readers 196	
11.6	Case 2 196	
11.6.1	Patient Information 196	
11.6.2	Details of the Tooth 197	
11.6.2.1	Clinical Examination Findings 197	
11.6.2.2	Preoperative Radiological Assessment 197	
11.6.3	Diagnosis 198	
11.7	Treatment Plan 200	
11.8	Treatment Done 202	
11.8.1	Instrumentation Protocol 202	
11.8.2	Irrigation Protocol 203	
11.8.3	Obturation Protocol 204	
11.8.4	Post Endodontic Phase 205	
11.8.5	Rationale on the Treatment Protocol and the Material Used	206
11.9	Learning Objectives for the Readers 206	
11.10	Case 3 206	
11.10.1	Patient Information 206	
11.10.2	Details of the Tooth 206	
11.10.3	Preoperative Radiological Assessment 207	
11.10.4	Diagnosis 207	
11.11	Treatment plan 207	
11.12	Treatment Done 207	
11.12.1	Instrumentation Protocol 207	
11.12.2	Irrigation Protocol 208	
11.12.3	Obturation Protocol 209	
11.12.4	Post Endo Restorative Phase 211	
11.12.5	Rationale on the Treatment Protocol and the Material Used	211
11.13	Learning Objectives for the Readers 211	
11.14	Discussion 211	
	References 212	
12	BioConeless Obturation 215	
	Francesca Cerutti and Calogero Bugea	
12.1	Introduction 215	
12.2	Why BioConeless? 217	
12.2.1	BioConeless: Indications 221	
12.2.2	BioConeless: How to Do It? 224	

κii	Conten	t
NII.	Conten	L.

xii	Contents	
All	Contents	
	12.2.3	Concerns Regarding the Complete Filling of the Root Canal with the Coneless and BioConeless Techniques 231
	12.2.4	Concerns Regarding the Consistency of the Obturation 234
	12.2.4.1	Time Required to Complete the Obturation 234
	12.3	Final Remarks 234
	12.4	Learning Objectives 235
		References 235
	13	Primary Endodontic Treatment using ProTaper Ultimate and AH Plus
		Bioceramic Sealer 239
		Viresh Chopra and Harneet Chopra
	13.1	Introduction of the Case 239
	13.1.1	Patient Information 239
	13.1.2	Tooth 240
	13.2	Treatment Procedure for the First Appointment 241
	13.3	Treatment Procedure for the Second Appointment 242
	13.3.1	Irrigation Protocol 244
	13.4	Technical Aspects 244
	13.4.1	Follow up 244
	13.5	Learning Objectives 244
	14	Management of Failed Root Canal Treatment in an Anterior Tooth
		Using Calcium Silicate Cement 247
		Viresh Chopra and Ajinkya Pawar
	14.1	Introduction of the Case 247
	14.1.1	Patient Information 248
	14.1.2	Diagnosis (Pulpal and Periapical) 249
	14.1.2.1	
	14.2	Treatment Plan 249
	14.2.1	Treatment Procedure for the First Appointment 249
	14.2.2	Treatment Procedure for the Second Appointment 250
	14.2.3 14.2.3.1	Irrigation Protocol 252 Materials Used for Obturation 252
	14.2.3.1	Technical Aspects 252
	14.3.1	Follow-up 253
	14.3.1	Learning Objectives 253
	17.7	Learning Objectives 233
	15	Apexification of a Traumatic Central Incisor with an Apical Plug
		Technique using Calcium Silicate Cement 255
	15.1	Viresh Chopra, Harneet Chopra, and Aylin Baysan Introduction of the Case 256

15.1.1	Patient Information 256
15.1.2	Tooth Information 256
15.1.2.1	Identification 256
15.1.2.2	Dental History 256
15.1.2.3	Clinical Examination Findings 256
15.1.2.4	Diagnosis (Pulpal and Periapical) 256
15.1.2.5	Advice 256
15.2	Treatment Plan 256
15.2.1	Treatment Procedure for the First Appointment 257
15.2.2	Treatment Procedure for the Second Appointment 258
15.2.3	Treatment Procedure for the Third Appointment 258
15.2.3.1	Irrigation Protocol 259
15.3	Technical Aspects 259
15.3.1	Follow-up 261
15.4	Learning Objectives 261
15.5	Conclusion 261
16	Coneless Obturations: Bioceramics as Obturating Materials 263
	Viresh Chopra and Maryam Hasnain
16.1	Introduction 264
16.2	Introduction of the Case 264
16.2.1	Patient Information 264
16.2.2	Tooth Information 265
16.2.2.1	Identification 265
16.2.2.2	Dental History 265
16.2.2.3	Diagnosis (Pulpal and Periapical) 266
16.2.2.4	Advice 266
16.3	Treatment Plan 266
16.3.1	Treatment Procedure for the First Appointment 266
16.3.2	Treatment Procedure for the Second Appointment 268
16.3.2.1	Irrigation Protocol 269
16.4	Technical Aspects 269
16.5	Learning Objectives 270
16.6	Conclusion 271
	References 271
17	Colortina Managament of a Cons With Counties to
17	Selective Management of a Case With Complicated
	Internal Morphology 273
15.1	Gergely Benyőcs and Viresh Chopra
17.1	Introduction of the Case 273

xiv	Contents

17.1.1	Patient Information 274
17.1.2	Tooth Information 274
17.1.2.1	Identification 274
17.1.2.2	Dental History 274
17.1.2.3	Investigations 274
17.1.2.4	Diagnosis (Pulpal and Periapical) 276
17.1.2.5	Advice 276
17.2	Treatment Plan 276
17.2.1	Treatment Procedure for the First Appointment 276
17.2.2	Treatment Procedure for the Second Appointment 277
17.2.2.1	Irrigation Protocol 277
17.3	Technical Aspects 279
17.4	Learning Objectives 279
17.5	Conclusion 280
18	Retreatment of a Maxillary Molar With Complex
	Internal Morphology 281
	Gergely Benyőcs and Viresh Chopra
18.1	Introduction of the Case 282
18.2	Patient Information 282
10.2	Patient Information 282
18.2.1	
18.2.1	
18.2.1 18.2.1.1	Tooth Information 282
18.2.1 18.2.1.1	Tooth Information 282 Identification 282
18.2.1 18.2.1.1 18.2.1.2	Tooth Information 282 Identification 282 Dental History 282
18.2.1.1 18.2.1.1 18.2.1.2 18.2.1.3	Tooth Information 282 Identification 282 Dental History 282 Investigations 282
18.2.1. 18.2.1.1 18.2.1.2 18.2.1.3 18.2.1.4	Tooth Information 282 Identification 282 Dental History 282 Investigations 282 Diagnosis (Pulpal and Periapical) 282
18.2.1.1 18.2.1.1 18.2.1.2 18.2.1.3 18.2.1.4 18.2.1.5	Tooth Information 282 Identification 282 Dental History 282 Investigations 282 Diagnosis (Pulpal and Periapical) 282 Advice 282
18.2.1 18.2.1.1 18.2.1.2 18.2.1.3 18.2.1.4 18.2.1.5 18.3	Tooth Information 282 Identification 282 Dental History 282 Investigations 282 Diagnosis (Pulpal and Periapical) 282 Advice 282 Treatment Plan 282
18.2.1 18.2.1.1 18.2.1.2 18.2.1.3 18.2.1.4 18.2.1.5 18.3 18.3.1	Tooth Information 282 Identification 282 Dental History 282 Investigations 282 Diagnosis (Pulpal and Periapical) 282 Advice 282 Treatment Plan 282 Treatment Procedure for the First Appointment 283
18.2.1 18.2.1.1 18.2.1.2 18.2.1.3 18.2.1.4 18.2.1.5 18.3 18.3.1 18.3.2	Tooth Information 282 Identification 282 Dental History 282 Investigations 282 Diagnosis (Pulpal and Periapical) 282 Advice 282 Treatment Plan 282 Treatment Procedure for the First Appointment 283 Treatment Procedure for the Second Appointment 284
18.2.1 18.2.1.1 18.2.1.2 18.2.1.3 18.2.1.4 18.2.1.5 18.3 18.3.1 18.3.2 18.3.2.1	Tooth Information 282 Identification 282 Dental History 282 Investigations 282 Diagnosis (Pulpal and Periapical) 282 Advice 282 Treatment Plan 282 Treatment Procedure for the First Appointment 283 Treatment Procedure for the Second Appointment 284 Irrigation Protocol 285
18.2.1 18.2.1.1 18.2.1.2 18.2.1.3 18.2.1.4 18.2.1.5 18.3 18.3.1 18.3.2 18.3.2.1 18.4	Tooth Information 282 Identification 282 Dental History 282 Investigations 282 Diagnosis (Pulpal and Periapical) 282 Advice 282 Treatment Plan 282 Treatment Procedure for the First Appointment 283 Treatment Procedure for the Second Appointment 284 Irrigation Protocol 285 Technical Aspects 287

Index 289

List of Contributors

Antonis Chaniotis

Private Practice Endodontics NKUA (National Kapodistrian University of Athens) Zografou, Greece

Burçin Arıcan

School of Dental Medicine, Department of Endodontics, Bahçeşehir University Istanbul, Turkey

Ayfer Atav

Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Endodontics, Istinye University Istanbul, Turkey

Ajay Bajaj

Diploma in Endodontics Universität Jaume I (UJI) Castelló, Spain Private Practice, Mumbai Maharashtra, India

Aylin Baysan

Bart's London School of Medicine and Dentistry Queen Mary University London, UK

Gergely Benyőcs

Private Practitioner Precedent Dental Office Budapest, Hungary

Calogero Bugea

Private Practice Gallipoli, Italy

Francesca Cerutti

Private Practice Lovere, Italy

Harneet Chopra

Adult Restorative Dentistry Oman Dental College Muscat, Oman

Viresh Chopra

Adult Restorative Dentistry, Oman Dental College, Muscat, Oman Endodontology, Oman Dental College Muscat, Oman Bart's London School of Medicine and Dentistry, Queen Mary University London, UK

Antarikshya Das

Department of Conservative Dentistry and Endodontics, Kalinga Institute of Dental Sciences, Kiit University (deemed to be), Odisha, India

Maya Feghali

Private Practice, Paris, France

Marilu' Garo

Mathsly Research, Vibo Valentia, Italy

Sachin Gupta

Department of Conservative Dentistry and Endodontics Subharti Dental College Meerut, UP, India

Maryam Hasnain

Private Practitioner Birmingham, UK

Shikha Jaiswal

Department of Conservative Dentistry and Endodontics Subharti Dental College Meerut, UP, India

Shahab Javanmardi

Adult Restorative Dentistry Oman Dental College Muscat, Oman

Padmanabh Jha

Department of Conservative **Dentistry and Endodontics** Subharti Dental College Meerut, UP, India

Sanjay Miglani

Department of Conservative Dentistry & Endodontics, Faculty of Dentistry Jamia Millia Islamia (A Central University) New Delhi, India

Ankita Mohanty

Conservative Dentistry and **Endodontics Anew Cosmetics** Centre, Bangalore Karnataka, India

Vineeta Nikhil

Department of Conservative Dentistry and Endodontics Subharti Dental College Meerut, UP, India

Keziban Olcay

Faculty of Dentistry Department of Endodontics Istanbul University-Cerrahpaşa Istanbul, Turkey

Abhishek Parolia

Department of Endodontics University of Iowa College of Dentistry and Dental Clinics Iowa City, IA, USA School of Dentistry International Medical University Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

Swadheena Patro

Department of Conservative and Endodontics, Kalinga Institute of Dental Sciences Kiit University (deemed to be) Odisha, India

Ajinkya Pawar

Conservative Dentistry and Endodontics Nair Hospital Dental College Mumbai, India

Garima Poddar

Diploma in Endodontics Universität Jaume I (UJI) Castelló, Spain Dental Department Shanti Memorial Hospital Pvt. Ltd. Cuttack, Odisha, India

Abubaker Qutieshat

Adult Restorative Dentistry Oman Dental College Muscat, Oman

Catherine Ricci

University of Nice-Sophia Antipolis Nice, France

Gurdeep Singh

Adult Restorative Dentistry Oman Dental College Muscat, Oman

Riccardo Tonini

Department of Medical and Surgery Specialties, Radiological Sciences and Public Health, Dental School University of Brescia Brescia, Italy

Foreword by Professor Nutayla Said Al Harthy

Clinicians today are challenged by rapidly evolving information related to clinical techniques and materials, making the process of critically appraising the available dental literature for focused, evidence-based, patient-centered care challenging. Dr. Viresh Chopra has yet again put together a reference textbook, further assisting clinicians interested in practicing contemporary endodontics to make informed decisions when using "Bioceramics in Clinical Endodontics."

"Bioceramics in Clinical Endodontics" provides the reader with not only the information required to have a sound understanding of the subject within today's practice of clinical endodontics. This book also includes rich illustrations and numerous clinical cases along with an accessible video clip, making it clinically focused.

Dr. Viresh Chopra and the contributors should be commended for their dedication in compiling this reference book in endodontics by covering the background and core principles in the use of bioceramics in contemporary endodontics in a clinically comprehensible and attractive format.

Professor Nutayla Said Al Harthy, BDS, PhD, MFDS RCPS (Glasg),
FDS RCPS (Glasg), FCGDent (UK)
Dean
Oman Dental College
Muscat, Sultanate of Oman

Foreword by Stephen Cohen

As a professor of endodontics, I have witnessed the rapid advancements in the field of endodontics over the years. One of the most significant contributions to this field has been the emergence of bioceramics. Bioceramics have revolutionized the way we approach endodontic procedures, providing us with a more efficient and effective means of treating our patients.

This book on bioceramics as part of clinical endodontics is a comprehensive guide that covers all aspects of this exciting field. From the history and development of bioceramics to their current clinical applications, this book provides a detailed overview of this field.

The author has expertly curated a collection of chapters that cover the various types of bioceramics, their properties, and their clinical applications. Additionally, the book includes case studies that demonstrate the successful use of bioceramics in various dental procedures.

As a professor of endodontics, I highly recommend this book to anyone interested in learning more about bioceramics. This book is an invaluable resource that provides a thorough understanding of this fascinating field, and I am confident that it will serve as an excellent reference for many years.

Stephen Cohen, MA, DDS, FICD, FACD Diplomate, American Board of Endodontics San Francisco, CA USA

Preface

The first edition of this textbook includes the latest updates and recent developments in Bioceramics for clinical use in endodontics. The book provides an excellent update on the material science, characteristics, and clinical endodontic applications of bioceramics for students in graduate programs and residencies. This book presents a series of chapters focusing on the origin of dental bioceramics, their physical and mechanical properties, clinical applications, recent updates, future directions, and ideas for future research on bioceramics. In addition, clinical endodontic cases have been added to this book, which will serve as a guide to using bioceramics in various clinical scenarios that a dentist encounters in their day-to-day endodontic practice.

This book has been designed for a wide range of dental community, starting from undergraduates, postgraduates, endodontist, as well as dental practitioners who have a special love for endodontics. This is the reason why, along with didactic chapters on history and material properties, a section on clinical cases has been added to this book. In addition, this book has a companion website where the readers can enjoy videos demonstrating the use of bioceramics in various clinical cases while it is performed on patients. This will give readers a chance to apply these materials as per the protocol in their own practice using these chapters as a guide.

This book would have not been possible without the contributions from all the authors and a number of people who have worked hard on the preparation of the text. As an editor, I would like to thank Mr. Atul Ignatius David for coping with me during the entire course. I would also like to thank Ms. Rituparna Bose and Susan Engelken for their continuous follow-ups. Many thanks to the entire WILEY team for their support in bringing out this version of the book.

This book should be of interest to researchers, graduate students, postgraduates, and private dental practitioners. It should serve as a useful reference for material scientists and dentists with an interest in bioceramics and

xxiv Preface

performance of the dental engineered material. We hope that the broader spectrum of this book will facilitate the exchange of information between a wide range of dental professionals and also serve as a reference for further research ideas on Bioceramics.

V. Chopra
Oman Dental College
Muscat, Sultanate of Oman
Bart's and the London School of Medicine and Dentistry
Queen Mary University
London, UK

Acknowledgments

"Real dream is not what we see in sleep but which does not allow us to sleep"

Thank you is a small word which would never completely convey the sense of gratitude and regard that I feel for each of the following people who have made *Bioceramics in Clinical Practice*, first edition, a reality.

We all start and stay in a state of rest, or of uniform motion in a right line, unless motivated, inspired, or compelled to become active by forces/people around us. Editing this book has really been an eye-opener and made me learn a lot and appreciate the presence of everyone's support around me.

First and foremost, my sincere gratitude to Prof. Dayananda Y.D. Samarawick rama for showing belief in me and motivating me to make this dream a reality. Also, I would like to thank my Dean Dr. (Prof.) Nutayla Al Harthy and Dr. (Prof.) Mohammed Ismaily for trusting in this project and supporting me in this project.

"It is not about the destination, but journey. Enjoy the process and the goal becomes easy". My sincere thanks to Dr. Aylin Baysan for making me understand this and always sending the required positive energy and force that keeps me going at all times.

I would like to take this opportunity to thank each one of my teachers who have helped me in my growth as an endodontist. With folded hands, I bow forward to my *Gurus* Dr. Himanshu Aeran, Dr. Pravin Kumar, Dr. Vineeta Nikhil, Dr. Himanshu Sharma, Dr. S. Datta Prasad, and Dr. Shibani Grover.

I would like to specially thank a few people who have played a major role in my growth as an academician and as a clinician: Dr. Anil Kohli for always blessing me with his advice; Dr. Sanjay Miglani for being my mentor and a constant source of inspiration and support in every stage; Dr. K.S. Banga for always motivating me to do better; Dr. V. Gopikrishna for always inspiring me with his wisdom and giving me one take-home message in every interaction; Dr. Vivek Hegde for always pushing me to give the best to my patients.

The actual strength of this book is the clinical contributions by eminent researchers and clinicians from across the world. I thank each one for accepting my invitation to contribute and for their kindness and generosity in sharing their knowledge and expertise.

I thank all the leading dental companies that trusted me with this project and supported me for it. Thank you, Dentsply Sirona, Produits Dentaires, Cerkamed, Zirc, FKG Dentaire, Coltène/Whaledent, Eighteeth, Woodpecker, Perfectendo, and bioMTA for their continuous support.

I would like to thank the wonderful team at WILEY BLACKWELL for their genuine passion and professionalism in showing the final light of the day to this dream. Thank you, Susan Engelken, Ms. Rituparna Bose, and Mr. Atul David, for all the paperwork and continuous support.

A special thanks to Sumit Dubey, Ashwani Mishra, and Pankaj Vats for being my friends and for their timely advice.

My sincere thanks to each one of the following people at the place of my work for helping me in various ways during the genesis of this edition.

Finally, I owe my exceptional gratitude to my parents for their blessings, my brother Dr. Vishal Chopra, my sister Dr. Vandana Chopra, for their timely advice, my wife Dr. Harneet Chopra, and my children Aliyah and Kabir for their unflinching support.

About the Companion Website

This book is accompanied by a companion website.

www.wiley.com/go/chopra/bioceramicsinendodontics



This website includes Videos

1

Bioceramics in Dentistry

Vineeta Nikhil, Sachin Gupta, Shikha Jaiswal, and Padmanabh Jha

Department of Conservative Dentistry and Endodontics, Subharti Dental College, Meerut, UP, India

CONTENTS

- 1.1 Introduction, 2
- 1.2 History and Evolution of Bioceramics, 3
- 1.3 Classification of Bioceramics, 4
 - 1.3.1 Based on Generations, 4
 - 1.3.2 Based on Tissue Interaction, 5
 - 1.3.3 Based on Structure, 5
 - 1.3.4 Based on Composition, 6
 - 1.3.5 Based on Resorbability, 6
 - 1.3.6 Based on Their Location-Specific Use in Endodontology, 7
- 1.4 Forms of Bioceramics, 7
 - 1.4.1 Alumina, 7
 - 1.4.2 Zirconia, 7
 - 1.4.3 Hydroxyapatite (HA), 8
 - 1.4.4 Calcium Phosphate, 8
 - 1.4.5 Mineral Trioxide Aggregate, 8
 - 1.4.6 Biodentine, 9
- 1.5 Physicochemical Properties of Bioceramics, 9
 - 1.5.1 Portland Cement, 9
 - 1.5.2 ProRoot MTA, 10
 - 1.5.3 MTA Angelus, 12
 - 1.5.4 Biodentine, 12
 - 1.5.5 BioAggregate, 14
 - 1.5.6 Ceramicrete, 14
 - 1.5.7 Calcium-Enriched Mixture Cement, 15
 - 1.5.7.1 Physical Properties, 15
 - 1.5.7.2 Antibacterial Activity, 16
 - 1.5.7.3 Sealing Ability, 16

Bioceramics in Endodontics, First Edition. Edited by Viresh Chopra. © 2024 John Wiley & Sons, Inc. Published 2024 by John Wiley & Sons, Inc. Companion website: www.wiley.com/go/chopra/bioceramicsinendodontics

```
1.5.8 EndoSequence Root Repair Material, 16
              1.5.8.1
                        Setting and Working Time, 16
              1.5.8.2
                        pH Value, 16
              1.5.8.3
                        Microhardness, 17
              1.5.8.4
                        Bioactivity, 17
              1.5.8.5
                        Sealing Ability, 17
              1.5.8.6
                        Antibacterial Activity, 17
       1.5.9 iROOT, 17
              1.5.9.1
                        Physical Properties, 18
       1.5.10 Endo-CPM, 18
              1.5.10.1 Physical Properties, 18
1.6
      Physicochemical Properties of Some Bioinert Bioceramics, 20
              Alumina (High Purity Dense Alumina/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>), 20
       1.6.2 Zirconia, 20
1.7
      Biological Properties of Bioceramics, 21
       1.7.1
              Cytological Investigation of Biocompatibility, 21
       1.7.2
              Subcutaneous and Intraosseous Implantation, 23
       1.7.3 Periradicular Tissue Reactions, 23
       1.7.4
             Pulpal Reactions, 24
       1.7.5
              Antibacterial Properties, 26
1.8
      Application of Bioceramics in Dentistry, 26
1.9
      Advantages of Bioceramics, 28
             Regenerative Endodontic Therapy, 29
       1.9.2 Advantages of BCs When Used as a Sealer/Obturating Material, 29
1.10 Limitations, 30
1.11 Future Trends, 30
1.12 Conclusion, 32
      References, 32
```

1.1 Introduction

Biomaterials as described by the American National Institute of Health are natural or synthetic substance(s) other than drugs that can be used for therapeutic or diagnostic medical purposes to maintain or improve the quality of life[1]. Along with biocompatibility, biological sustainability is also a very important property of any biomaterials that are intended to be used to reconstruct body function for an unspecified duration. However, materials are also required for temporary support of functions. Therefore, depending on the tissues to be replaced and function required, different types of materials are used as a biomaterial, e.g. metal, ceramic, polymer, hydrogel, or composite.

Ceramics are inorganic, non-metallic materials that are hard, brittle, heat-resistant, and corrosion-resistant. In addition to their biocompatibility, ceramics can be obtained with biostable, bioactive, or bioresorbable properties making them eligible to be used as biomaterials. Ceramic base biomaterials that are specially developed for biological applications (both medical and dental)

are categorized as Bioceramics. Porous bioceramics (BC) can facilitate neoangiogenesis and neo-osteogenesis inside their porous structure. Additionally, resorbable bioceramics get replaced by the newly formed desired tissues.

Josette Camilleri described bioceramics in endodontics as the materials that are composed of tricalcium silicate-based cement synthesized from lab-grade chemicals and that do not include aluminum in their composition [2].

1.2 **History and Evolution of Bioceramics**

- Portland cement that was obtained from the limestones coming from Portland got patented in 1824 [3, 4].
- According to Peltier, the use of plaster of Paris, a resorbable ceramic, was first described by Dressman in 1892 to fill the bone cavities which were later found to be filled with solid bone [5].
- In the early 1920s, the use of calcium phosphates as a stimulus to osteogenesis for bone defect repair started [6].
- Use of ceramic hydroxyapatite (HA) granules for bone defect repair was first reported in the early 1950s [7].
- In 1963, Smith worked on a ceramic bone substitute, Cerosium [8].
- In 1969, researchers found a new material called bioglass that could be easily integrated into human bone [9].
- In the 1980s, the first hydroxyapatite coated implants were marketed.
- LeGeros et al. in 1982 used calcium phosphate in restorative dental cement as a bioceramics material [10].
- In 1984, the use of bioceramics started as a root canal sealer [11].
- The first self-hardening calcium phosphate cements (CPCs) were developed in 1986 [12].
- MTA was developed in the Loma Linda University, California, and was first documented in 1993 [13, 14] as a retrograde filling and perforations repair material.
- Chevalier et al. in 1997 found that the friction between zirconia and alumina is very low.
- In 1998, "TH-Zirconia" implants were introduced.
- The United States witnessed the first commercial MTA product, ProRoot MTA (Dentsply Tulsa Dental Specialties, Johnson City, TN) in 1999.
- In 2009, Septodont, France, marketed the calcium silicate-based product "Biodentine" as a permanent bulk dentin substitute.
- Angelus was the first company to launch a paste/paste bioceramic root canal sealer (MTA-Fillapex) in 2010.
- In 2019, Bio-C[®] Temp, a ready-to-use bioceramic paste for intracanal dressing was developed by Angelus, Brazil.

Earlier in the 1950s, bioceramics were used in dentistry because of their inertness and good biocompatibility that had no reaction with living tissues, e.g. zirconia, alumina, and carbon. They were primarily used for the fabrication of dental implants and prosthesis. Later on, the development of bioactive ceramics, e.g. bioglass (45S5) by Hench [9], extended the scope of these bioceramic materials as they offered in vivo benefits by inducing biomineralization (i.e. formation of apatite crystal layer). Bioglass (45S5) is composed of 45% SiO_2 , 24.5% CaO, and 24.5% NaO_2 . The addition of 6% P_2O_5 by weight enhanced the bioactivity of the glass [15]. However, this glass material was very weak and brittle. In the 1980s, the trend changed toward using implant ceramics that react with the environment and produce newly formed bone.

This bioglass was later modified to create variants by adding magnesium, borates, etc., for improving mechanical and setting properties of bioceramics [3].

Acknowledging the bioactivity property of bioceramics and their application into dentistry as mineralizing and regenerative materials has brought enormous productive changes [16].

Bioactive materials such as sintered hydroxyapatite (HA) [17] and β -wollastonite (CaO–SiO₂) in an MgO–CaO–SiO₂ glass-based matrix [18, 19] have been developed for over the last four decades [20].

Ternary CaO–MgO–SiO₂ system-based glass ceramics possessed better mechanical and chemical properties and thus are suitable materials for wear resistance, biomedical, and ceramic coating applications [21–23]. The addition of fluorides of Ca and Mg to substitute Na₂O in the conventional composition (SiO₂–CaO–Na₂O–P₂O₅) led to the development of antibacterials and bioceramics with higher flexure strength and hardness [20]. Ion substitutions (Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺, and B³⁺) decreased the coefficient of thermal expansion of the bioactive glass ceramics [19]. In addition to bioglass, calcium silicate and aluminate based bioceramics also showed the property of biomineralization.

Although the shift from older to newer formulations is quite slow, many bioceramic materials have been developed that overcome the previous drawbacks.

1.3 Classification of Bioceramics

Bioceramics are classified on the basis of their generations, interaction with tissues, structure, composition, resorbability, and uses.

1.3.1 Based on Generations

Bioceramics are divided into three generations:

 First generation: The first generation bioceramics are inert, thus do not initiate any reaction with living tissues, e.g. zirconia and alumina. Although they are biocompatible, for the body tissue they are like a foreign body,

- leading to the formation of an acellular collagen capsule which isolates them from the body tissues.
- 2) Second generation: In the 1980s, the trend changed toward the development of bioceramics with improved bioactivity and the second generation bioactive bioceramics were developed, e.g. calcium phosphates, glasses and ceramic glasses, and calcium silicate. These bioceramics can react with the physiological fluids forming biological-type apatite as a byproduct of said reaction; in the presence of living cells, this apatite can form new bone.
- 3) Third generation: The third generation bioactive, porous bioceramics were developed because of biological requirements. Only porous ceramics can fulfil physiological requirements in their use as scaffolds for cells and inducting molecules and being able to drive self-regeneration of tissues. Example: nanometric apatites, shaped in the form of pieces with interconnected and hierarchical porosity, within the micron range so that cells can perform their bone formation and regeneration tasks.

1.3.2 **Based on Tissue Interaction**

The fact that the reactivity of solids begins on their surface is of particular importance in the field of bioceramics because on application they remain in contact with an aqueous medium and in the presence of cells and proteins [24]. Based on different types of interactions [25, 26] shown by bioceramics, it is classified as:

- 1) Bioinert: These materials have a high chemical stability in vivo; thus, they do not interact and show no chemical changes when they are in contact with living tissues. They also possess high mechanical strength, e.g. alumina, zirconia, and carbon.
- 2) Bioactive: Bioactive bioceramics have the character of osteoconduction and the capability of chemical bonding with living bone tissue. These materials bond directly with living tissues by undergoing interfacial interactions, e.g. bioactive glasses, HA, calcium silicates, and calcium aluminates.
- 3) Biodegradable: These materials when in contact with living tissues either become soluble or resorb and eventually get replaced or incorporated into tissue, e.g. tricalcium phosphate, calcium phosphate, aluminum-calciumphosphates, and calcium aluminates.

1.3.3 **Based on Structure**

Depending on the structure type, bioceramics are classified into:

1) Dense: Bioceramics that are available as solid bulk structures like bars, rods, or to any shape through injection molding fall in this category. Because of their nonporous nature, these bioceramics show poor vascularization and osteoinduction ability, e.g. zirconia.

2) Porous: Porous bioceramics have attracted tremendous attention with their excellent biological function and osteoinduction ability. They provide scaffolds for cells to adhere, proliferate, differentiate, and regenerate tissues. The mean size and surface area of porosity plays an important role in the growth and migration of a tissue into the bioceramic scaffolds, e.g. CaP scaffold.

1.3.4 Based on Composition

On the basis of their composition, bioceramics are classified into:

- 1) <u>Calcium silicate-based</u>: The calcium silicate-based bioceramics can be further categorized on the basis of their application:
 - a) Cement: e.g. Biodentine (Septodont, France), mineral trioxide aggregate (MTA), Portland cement.
 - b) Sealer: BioRoot RCS (Septodont, France), Endo-CPM-Sealer (EGO SRL, Buenos Aires, Argentina), MTA Fillapex (Angelus, Brazil), TECHBiosealer (Profident, Kielce, Poland).
- 2) <u>Calcium phosphate-based bioceramics</u>: These materials are obtainable as bone cements, paste, scaffolds, and coatings. The tricalcium phosphate has shown the property of osteogenesis during bony defect treatment, e.g. tricalcium phosphate and HA. Bioglass, a glass ceramic containing calcium and phosphate, showed bonding with the living bone with a calcium phosphate-rich layer [27].
- 3) Mixture of calcium silicates and calcium phosphates: EndoSequence BC Sealer (Brasseler, Savannah, GA, USA)/Total Fill, BioAggregate (Innovative Bioceramix Inc., Vancouver, Canada), Tech Biosealer, Ceramicrete (developed at Argonne National Lab, IL, USA), iRoot BP, iRoot BP plus, iRoot SP (Innovative Bioceramix Inc., Vancouver, Canada)
- 4) <u>Calcium aluminate-based:</u> These materials can set, harden, and maintain their physical and mechanical properties over time in an oral environment. They have the ability to create apatite on their surface and provide tight seal between the tooth and itself. The cements can also contribute to the healing of the dental pulp or in the tissue surrounding the root of a tooth by eluting ions to stimulate cytokines, e.g. EndoBinder, Generex, Capasio, and Quick-set.

1.3.5 Based on Resorbability

- 1) Nonresorbable: Alumina, zirconia, carbon, HA, and calcium phosphate cement.
- 2) Resorbable: β tricalcium phosphate and calcium sulfate

Based on Their Location-Specific Use in Endodontology

They are classified as [28]:

- 1) Intracoronal
 - Pulp capping materials
 - Regenerative endodontic cements
- 2) Intraradicular root canal sealers
 - Apical plug cements
 - Perforation repair cements
- 3) Extraradicular
 - Root-end filling materials
 - Perforation repair cements

Forms of Bioceramics 1.4

Bioceramics are available in different forms and phases:

- Powder or microspheres
- As a thin coating on a metal or polymer
- Porous 3D structure
- Composites with a polymer component
- Solid dense structure.

1.4.1 Alumina

Aluminum oxide (Al₂O₃) is commonly known as alumina. It is highly inert and resistant to corrosion even in a highly dynamic oral environment. Additionally, it has high wear resistance and surface finish. As an implant material, it was first used in the 1970s. It does not integrate with bone or soft tissues. Because of its hardness being higher than the other metal alloys, alumina found its main application as biomaterials in the articular surfaces of joint replacements [29].

142 Zirconia

Zirconium dioxide is commonly known as zirconia. As zirconium is a very strong metal, it is also known as "ceramic steel." The inherent properties of zirconia such as inertness, high toughness, strength, wear resistance, fatigue resistance, and biocompatibility make it suitable to be used as dental bioceramics.

Zirconia established itself as implant material in the 1960s. Compared to zirconia, partially stabilized zirconia showed superior flexural strength, fracture toughness, lower stiffness, and a superior surface [30].

1.4.3 Hydroxyapatite (HA)

HA $(Ca_{10}(PO_4)_6(OH)_2)$ is a major component of human bones and teeth. It belongs to the calcium phosphate family with a calcium to phosphorus ratio of 1.67. Since most of the inorganic portion of the human bone tissue is HA, it can be effective in reconstructing human bone tissue. It is capable of integrating and supporting bone growth, without breaking down or dissolving. It has higher stability in aqueous media than other calcium phosphate ceramics within a pH range of 4.2–8.0 [31]. In the 1970s, resorbed residual ridge repair started with HA and in 1988 in North America it was declared as a successful implant material.

To fill the bone defects or spaces, HA may be used in the form of either powder, blocks, or beads. The bone filler acts as a scaffold to facilitate the formation of natural bone.

HA is also used to alter the surface properties of metals by the application of coating on its surface. Because of the poor mechanical properties, HA cannot be used for load-bearing applications.

1.4.4 Calcium Phosphate

Examples of calcium phosphate-based bioceramics used in dentistry are CPC, tricalcium phosphate, HA, and bioglass that are used as bone substitutes and also an adjunct with the dental cements [25]. CPC offers the potential for in situ molding and injectability.

Tricalcium phosphate is a biodegradable bioceramic. Tricalcium phosphate has four polymorphs; the most common ones are the α and β forms. It dissolves in physiological media and can be replaced with bone during implantation.

When the ratio of Ca/P in calcium phosphate compounds is less than 1, it becomes highly soluble and is thus unsuitable for biological implantation. It is used as a coating on metallic implants, as fillers in polymer matrices, as self-setting bone cements, as granules or as larger shaped structures.

1.4.5 Mineral Trioxide Aggregate

Dr. Torabinajed introduced MTA in 1993. MTA powder comprises 75% mixture of tricalcium silicate (CaO)₃SiO₂, dicalcium silicate (CaO)₂SiO₂, and tricalcium aluminate (CaO)₃ Al₂O₃ 20% bismuth oxide; and 5% gypsum. This combination

possesses osteoconductive, osteoinductive, and biocompatible properties. When mineral trioxide powder is mixed with water, initially calcium hydroxide and calcium silicate hydrate are formed [32]. MTA is an active biomaterial with the potential to interact with the fluids in the tissues. The pH value is 10.2 after mixing and it rises to 12.5 at three hours resulting in an alkaline environment [32].

1.4.6 **Biodentine**

Biodentine, a tricalcium silicate-based hydraulic cement, was developed by Septodont research group (Septodont, Saint-Maur-des-Fosses, France) as a bioactive dentin substitute material. Tricalcium silicate is the main component and the additives include calcium carbonate in the powder; calcium chloride, watersoluble polymer, and water make the liquid. Calcium chloride controls the setting time. Biodentine exhibits a higher initial rate of calcium ion release compared to other similar material types [33, 34]. This is due to the interaction of the calcium carbonate that enhances the reaction rate [35].

Hydrated calcium silicate gel and calcium hydroxide are produced because of the hydration of tricalcium silicate. The hydrated calcium silicate gel and calcium hydroxide gradually fill in the spaces between the tricalcium grains by precipitating at the surface of the particles. Biodentine continues to improve in terms of internal structure toward a denser material, with a decrease in porosity after the initial setting.

1.5 **Physicochemical Properties of Bioceramics**

The physiochemical properties of bioceramics govern the application and outcome of the use of bioceramic materials. The therapeutic effect of these biomaterials in aiding healing and restoring function is dependent on the chemical reactions that affect their setting, hardening in the presence of oral tissues and fluids. The biological response of the tissues is mediated through a dynamic interaction between these materials, depending on their composition, biocompatibility, and specific properties such as surface microhardness, flow, pH, flexural strength, etc. related to them. The following discussion is focused on the physiochemical properties of commercially used bioceramics commonly used in endodontics.

1.5.1 **Portland Cement**

Portland cement (PC) offers antibacterial activity, biocompatibility, bio-inductivity, and acceptable physical and chemical properties when used for varied